
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

(KNOXVILLE) 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
JOHN DOE, A STUDENT, ) 
BY AND THROUGH HIS PARENTS, ) 
JOHN DOE SR., HIS FATHER, AND ) 
JANE DOE, HIS MOTHER; AND )  
JOHN DOE, SR. ) 
AND JANE DOE, INDIVIDUALLY. ) 
 ) 
         ) 
  PLAINTIFFS.     ) 
        )     
VS.        )    NO ._______     
        )    JURY DEMANDED   
LOUDON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION.   ) 
        ) 
        ) 
  DEFENDANT.     ) 
________________________________________________________________ 
 

COMPLAINT  
 

 
 COME THE PLAINTIFFS, John Doe., through his parents, and his parents, 

individually, John Doe Sr. and Jane Doe (pseudonyms) through counsel, filing this Complaint.  

They show: 

I. PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

1. John Doe is a minor student, currently a ninth grader, in the Loudon County public 

schools.  He resides with his parents, his father, John Doe Sr., and his mother, Jane Doe, in Loudon, 

Tennessee.   

2. The Loudon County Board of Education is vested with control and operations of 

the public school system within Loudon County, Tennessee including the responsibility of 
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ensuring that its employees are properly trained and supervised to perform their job duties, and 

that all of its students, including Plaintiff John Doe, are kept safe and free from a hostile and 

harassing school environment.  Loudon County Board of Education is a legal entity with the 

capacity to be sued for violations of statutory duties and responsibilities under state and federal 

law.  At all material times, Loudon County Board of Education received, and continues to  receive, 

federal financial assistance. 

3. This action arises out of Title IX, 20 U.S.C. §1681 et seq. and denial of equal 

protection of the laws under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution through 42 

U.S.C. § 1983, with the Court’s jurisdiction invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 

1343, respectively.  The Court has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1367 for the state 

law claims 

4. Venue is appropriate in this Court under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) as the cause of action 

arose in Loudon County and the Defendant may be found in Loudon County. 

II. FACTS 

5. On December 3, 2021, John Doe, a 13-year-old eighth grader with a learning 

disability, wrote a note to his family which concluded with: “I love all of you all.  I will be by the 

gas tank.”  John then took his father’s pistol and walked outside the house, intending to shoot 

himself by the propane gas tank.  The note informed his family where they could find his body. 

6. John’s life was spared because he could not figure out how to fire the pistol.  The 

safety operated as intended—literally saving John’s life.   

7. John’s decision to attempt suicide was the culmination of daily sexual torment 

inside of Fort Loudon Middle School (FLMS) and not knowing how to combat it.  The experience 
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at FLMS nearly cost John his life and caused him ongoing mental trauma.  FLMS failed to adhere 

to a process for both preventing and responding to sexual harassment within its schools, ignoring 

the Loudon County Board of Education’s own established policy.   

A. The Sexual Harassment 

8. Every day of eighth grade, up to December 3, 2021, John endured sexual bullying by 

other students.  In the hallway, at his locker, in the gym, and in the bathroom, that daily torment 

included a group of boys spanking his buttocks and making sexual comments.  Occasionally, an 

object like a bottle or banana was also used, with the boys suggesting how John wanted anal 

penetration with the bottle or banana.  All of this conduct was unwanted, unwelcomed, offensive, 

and created a sexually hostile educational environment for John. 

B. Loudon County Board Policy for Title IX and Sexual Harassment 
 

9. That students will sometimes sexually harass other students is not unknown to the 

Loudon County Board of Education.  In fact, it has a paper policy, Number 6.3041, entitled “Title 

IX & Sexual Harassment.”  However, when confronted with sexual harassment, the FLMS 

administration appeared to not even know about this policy—as they certainly did not follow it.   

10. Under this Title IX and Sexual Harassment policy, FLMS is to disseminate the 

policy annually to “all school staff, students, and parent(s)/guardian(s).”  However, John Doe and 

his parents have no recollection of this policy being disseminated to them—neither recalls being 

apprised of it at any time.  And based on the total failure to implement or adhere to the process, 

neither did the FLMS administration. 

11. Under the Board’s Title IX and Sexual Harassment policy, any individual with 

knowledge of behavior that may constitute a violation of the policy shall immediately report such 
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information to the Title IX Coordinator, listed as Matthew Tinker.  Upon information and belief, 

no report was made to the Title IX Coordinator. 

12. Under the Board’s Title IX policy, FLMS is to provide supportive measures to a 

complainant, like John Doe, and then “explain the process for filing a formal complaint.”  

However, even when meeting with John Doe and John Doe, Sr., FLMS made no mention of what 

constitutes a “formal complaint,” or how to “file” one.  

13. Under the Board’s Title IX policy, if a “formal complaint” is “filed,” then John 

Doe and his tormenters were to receive written notice of a “Grievance Process” that consists of 

an investigation “within forty-eight (48) hours of receipt of the complaint.” This, too, did not 

occur. 

14. Under the Board’s Title IX policy, if the investigation had occurred, then all parties 

would have been entitled to present evidence, review evidence, and receive an “investigative 

report that fairly summarizes relevant evidence.”  Then, all parties may also submit a written 

response to the investigative report.  This did not occur either. 

15. Under the Board’s Title IX policy, if the investigative report had occurred, then each 

party is entitled to “submit written questions” prior to a determination of any responsibility. At 

that point, a written determination of responsibility is to be made “along with information about 

how to file an appeal.”  None of this occurred either. 

16. Clearly, these procedures are designed to afford due process to both the victims and 

the persons accused to orderly handle the serious subject of sexual harassment in the schools. 

Without such process, victims may feel helpless, as John Doe surely did in this situation, nearly 

costing him his life. 
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C. The Deliberate Indifference to Title IX and Sexual Harassment 
 

17. What did occur reflects a deliberate indifference, and certainly negligence, toward 

sexual harassment of John Doe, a male.  As referenced above, John Doe was tormented daily with 

sexual harassment without having an understanding of how to combat it.  Although the harassment 

was open and obvious, and recurring, no one reported the matter to the Title IX coordinator (or 

others in authority).  The Title IX assurance of processes for prevention, investigation, and 

remediation failed, and FLMS ignored its own Board’s policies. 

18. On Thursday, December 2, 2021, John Doe broke down crying for fear that he 

would be tormented during a FLMS basketball game. John Doe divulged the history of harassment 

to his parents, who were also at the game.  Immediately, still at the game, John Doe’s parents 

reported the harassment to a school resource officer and assistant Principal.  They relocated to the 

office of the assistant principal, where John Doe disclosed students striking his buttocks and 

making inappropriate sexual comments. Everyone agreed to meet the following morning, 

December 3, 2021, at FLMS. 

19. Around 8:00 a.m. on Friday, December 3, 2021, John Doe and his parent, John Doe, 

Sr., a police officer, met with and reported the harassment to the school resource officer, assistant 

Principal, and the guidance counselor.   

20. The Title IX Coordinator still was not called and, upon information and belief, no 

report was ever made to the Title IX Coordinator.   Instead, the assistant Principal offered to station 

a teacher near John Doe for his safety and to consider issue a “safety plan.”  The actual Board 

process for Title IX and Sexual Harassment—a formal complaint with a grievance process, 

evidence, questions, etc., was ignored. 
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21. Around 12:00 p.m. that same day of December 3, 2021, John Doe reported yet 

another assault by one of the students.  The officer retrieved video footage from the hallway 

appearing to corroborate the inappropriate touching of John Doe by another student.  

22. The FLMS principal, along with the school resource officer, summoned this 

student, along with others named by John Doe. These students admitted the inappropriate 

touching, attempting to cast it off as “just joking around.”  Had John Doe been female, such 

spanking and grabbing his buttocks would not have been considered “joking.”  

23. While the school resource officer created a report of “Sexual Battery” and 

“Forcible Fondling” against John Doe, the head of school, the Principal, did not view the matter 

as seriously.  Thus, no report was made to the Title IX Coordinator, nor was any information 

provided to the Does about invoking the Title IX and Sexual Harassment investigative and 

disciplinary process.   

24. Minimizing the issue, the Principal informed John Doe that the harassing students 

“do not have good home lives,” as if that somehow lessened the impact on John Doe.  Had these 

students assaulted a female in this manner, the Principal would not have taken the laissez faire 

stance.  But with John Doe, no formal discipline was given to these students despite their admissions 

of inappropriate touching (sexual battery and fondling).  Upon information and belief, the students 

were merely given a stern warning to behave themselves. 

25. John Doe overheard the harassing students laughing about being called into the 

office for “slapping butts.”  By so lightly handling a situation so serious, and by ignoring the 

Board’s Title IX and Sexual Harassment grievance procedures that apply equally to young men 

and women, FLMS sent the message to John Doe that the situation was “no big deal” and that his 
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right to attend school free from a hostile and harassing environment would not be enforced.  

Consequently, that same evening of December 3, 2021, John Doe attempted suicide, writing the 

note that his body could be found by the propane tank, saved only by the safety on the gun. 

26. The Loudon County Board of Education treated the sexual harassment so loosely,  

so casually, and without invoking proper process or following its own written procedures, that 

sexual harassment occurred throughout the eighth grade year and culminating on December 3, 

2021. 

27. Loudon County Board of Education’s actions and inactions maintained a policy of 

deliberate indifference to sexual harassment, and to reports of sexual harassment, creating a 

heightened risk in the school, with John Doe’s harassment being so severe that he nearly lost his 

life.  

28. As a result of Loudon County Board of Education’s actions and inactions, John Doe 

was deprived of equal access to his educational opportunities and/or benefits of the school and 

suffered extraordinary emotional trauma while his parents have incurred substantial losses of 

medical treatment, counseling treatment, and placement for John Doe into a private school for the 

remainder of the eighth grade to escape the daily tormenters and protect his mental health.  

III. CAUSES OF ACTION 

A. VIOLATION OF TITLE IX 
 

29. In recognition of the fact that “sex discrimination reaches into all facets of 

education,” Congress passed Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681, 

which prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex under any federally funded education program 

or activity. 
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30. Title IX requires schools like FLMS to address and remediate sex-based 

harassment. See, e.g., Franklin v. Gwinnett Cty. Pub. Schs., 503 U.S. 60, 75 (1992) (citing Meritor 

Sav. Bank, FSB v. Vinson, 477 U.S. 57, 64 (1986)). 

31. Loudon County Board of Education spectacularly failed to prevent, investigate, and 

remedy the sexual harassment of John Doe, all in violation of Title IX.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs seek 

declaratory relief to reflect the Title IX violations and injunctive relief to include an order that 

Loudon County Board of Education develop and implement Title IX investigatory processes 

consistent with Title IX; an order to train staff and parents and students about the availability of 

the formal process of Title IX; an order directing Loudon County Board of Education ensure that 

John Doe attend classes separate from his harassers; along with monetary damages of out-of-pocket 

costs to John Doe, Sr. and Jane Doe of mental health costs,  private school costs, and time and 

travel.  They also seek their attorneys’ fees and costs. 

B. VIOLATION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT AND SECTION 1983 

32. John Doe enjoys the right as an American public school student under the 

Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution to personal security, bodily integrity, 

and Equal Protection of the Laws. 

33. Loudon County Board of Education, its Principal, subjected John Doe to violations 

of his right to bodily integrity and Equal Protection of the Laws by treating him disparately as a 

male, and by acting with deliberate indifference to discriminatory peer harassment. It failed to take 

appropriate preventative measures; failing to adequately supervise and train; and it acted with 

manifest deliberate indifference to the sexual assault and harassment of John Doe. 
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34. Loudon County Board of Education, acting under color of state law, deprived John 

Doe of his rights to personal security and bodily integrity by failing to appropriately prevent, 

investigate, and remediate violations of John Doe’s right to personal security and bodily integrity.  

Loudon County Board of Education further deprived John Doe of his rights by failing to train and 

supervise Loudon County employees with regard to protecting students from violations of their 

rights to personal security, bodily integrity, and Equal Protection of the Law.  Loudon County 

Board of Education’s actions and inactions were undertaken as part of a custom or policy of such 

action or inaction, and/or were undertaken by employees with final policymaking authority of 

indifference to the rights of bodily integrity of students like John Doe who were being subjected to 

daily sexual harassment and assaults at school. 

35. As a result of Loudon County Board of Education’s deliberate indifference to his 

rights under the Fourteenth Amendment, John Doe suffered, and continues to suffer, emotional 

distress from the harassment and sexual assaults, and his parents incurred medical expenses and 

had to bear the costs of private tuition to provide him a school environment free from the daily 

violations of his rights to bodily integrity and personal security.  They seek recovery for these 

damages, mandatory training to Loudon County Board of Education of its obligations to all 

students under the Equal Protection of the Laws, and their reasonable attorneys fees and costs in 

prosecuting this action. 

C. NEGLIGENCE AND NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

36. Additionally, or in the alternative, Loudon County Board of Education was 

negligent and caused serious emotional harm to John Doe, and caused emotional harm to his 

parents as bystanders to the injury and suffering of their minor son, John Doe.  It harmed John Doe 

to the point of a near-suicide and now, long-standing trauma.  Despite its control and knowledge 
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of John Doe’s ongoing injuries, Loudon County Board of Education failed to prevent, report, 

and/or remedy ongoing sexual harassment and assaults of John Doe.  As a result, John Doe was 

repeatedly (and foreseeably) injured.  

37. Plaintiffs seek damages up to the statutory maximum available under the Tennessee 

Governmental Tort Liability Act, T.C.A. 29-20-311 and 29-20-403 ($300,000) against Loudon 

County Board of Education for its negligent acts and omissions resulting in serious humiliation, 

mortification, and negligent infliction of emotional distress and any consequential damages, and 

Jane Doe and John Doe Sr., respectively, seek damages of $50,000 each against Loudon County 

Board of Education for its negligent infliction of emotional distress claims. 

38. A jury is demanded. 

 
GILBERT LAW, PLLC 
   
/s Justin S. Gilbert     
Justin S. Gilbert (TN Bar No. 017079) 
100 W. Martin Luther King Blvd, Suite 501 
Chattanooga, TN 37402 
Telephone: 423-756-8203 
justin@schoolandworklaw.com 
 
& 
 
THE SALONUS FIRM, PLC   
/s Jessica F. Salonus 
JESSICA F. SALONUS (TN Bar No. 28158) 
139 Stonebridge Boulevard 
Jackson, TN 38305 
Telephone: 731-300-0970 
jsalonus@salonusfirm.com 
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